Regenerative Therapy 11 (2019) 25-30

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Regenerative Therapy

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/reth

Review

Insights into the biology of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva using patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells $\stackrel{\star}{\sim}$

Taiki Nakajima ^a, Makoto Ikeya ^{b, *}

^a Department of Life Science Frontiers, Center for iPS Cell Research and Application, Kyoto University, Kyoto, 606-8507, Japan
^b Department of Clinical Application, Center for iPS Cell Research and Application, Kyoto University, Kyoto, 606-8507, Japan

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 January 2019 Received in revised form 18 March 2019 Accepted 5 April 2019

Keywords: Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva Induced pluripotent stem cell Disease modeling Drug discovery Rapamycin

ABSTRACT

The demand for development of new drugs remains on the upward trend because of the large number of patients suffering from intractable diseases for which effective treatment has not been established yet. Recently, several researchers have attempted to apply induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) technology as a powerful tool for studying the mechanisms underlying the onset of various diseases and for new drug screening. This technology has made an enormous breakthrough, since it permits us to recapitulate the disease phenotype *in vitro*, outside of the patient's body. Here, we discuss the latest findings that uncovered a mechanism underlying the phenotypes with FOP patient-derived iPSCs, and that discovered promising candidate drugs for FOP treatment. We also discussed future directions of FOP research.

© 2019, The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/ 4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 25
2.	Studying FOP with patient-derived iPSCs	. 26
	2.1. Modeling FOP phenotypes with patient-derived iPSCs	26
	2.2. Mechanisms underlying the phenotype of FOP	27
	2.3. Discovering the candidate drugs for FOP	27
3.	Conclusion	. 29
	Study approval	. 29
	Conflicts of interest	. 29
	Acknowledgements	. 29
	References	29
		. 20

1. Introduction

Discovering a new drug requires tremendous efforts. Typically, it involves a long period of over ten years and massive costs, such as over a hundred million US dollars [1–5]. After the long-term developmental process including identification of the target molecule, screening and optimization of the compound, pharma-cokinetic test, preclinical test, and clinical trial, the stage of a new drug application is finally reached. Most of the compounds drop out before the preclinical phase; thus, the probability of a compound

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2019.04.004

2352-3204/© 2019, The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).





 $^{\,^{*}}$ This article is written by the recipient of The JSRM Awards (Basic Researches) 2018.

^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Clinical Application, Center for iPS Cell Research and Application, Kyoto University, 53 Kawahara-cho, Shogoin, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, 606-8507, Japan. Fax: +81 75 366 7073.

E-mail addresses: nkg@cira.kyoto-u.ac.jp (T. Nakajima), mikeya@cira.kyoto-u.ac. jp (M. Ikeya).

Peer review under responsibility of the Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine.

reaching market as a new therapeutic agent is extremely low [3,6-11]. Of late, significant advances in computational sciences, such as the appearance of super-computer, make it possible to introduce several innovative technologies in the field of medical science. One such example is virtual *in silico* screening that simulates and evaluates compound libraries computationally [12]. However, the number of new drug approvals is gradually declining each year [13–16].

Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) technology can also be used for drug discovery research, besides regenerative medicine [17–20]. Taking advantage of its pluripotency, various types of cells constituting our body can be differentiated from iPSCs and used for drug safety, toxicity, and pharmacokinetic assays. Moreover, this technology can also be applicable to research on drug discovery in case of intractable hereditary diseases for which no effective treatment exists. For this purpose, disease-specific iPSCs with a genetic background of a disease can be generated from patientderived cells [21,22]. This is a revolutionary advance as it enables us to model the disease phenotypes in vitro outside of the patient's body and to study the mechanisms underlying the onset of disease. Although most of these studies used to depend on animal models such as mice, the disease-specific iPSCs can also help to research on diseases that have significant species differences between humans and mice [23–26].

Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva, FOP, is a rare genetic disease characterized by endochondral heterotopic ossification in soft tissues, including skeletal muscles, ligament, and tendon, where a bone is not typically observed (Fig. 1) [27–32]. Approximately 90% of FOP patients share an R206H (617G > A) point mutation in the intracellular glycine- and serine-rich domain of ACVR1, a type I receptor for bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) [33-37], and the excessive transmission of the BMP signaling by mutant ACVR1 results in the bone formation ectopically [34,38-50]. This extraskeletal ossification is often initiated between the infant and childhood stage; mean age at FOP diagnosis is 6.9 years [51], sometimes accompanied by the hallux valgus, baldness, and hearing impairment. Also, it is known that the ossification often progresses dramatically followed by flare-up, inflammatory subcutaneous soft tissue swelling, due to inflammation such as trauma, surgical invasion, and infection. Ossification starts mainly from the trunk region and gradually tends to spread towards the periphery, thereby progressively decreasing the patient's exercise ability and function. The bone formation in tissues related to respiration, such as thorax, or in tissues related to chewing could lead to lifespan-shortening [27–32]. At present, no effective treatment for FOP has been approved. In this review, we discuss the latest findings in FOP research using patient-derived iPSCs.

2. Studying FOP with patient-derived iPSCs

2.1. Modeling FOP phenotypes with patient-derived iPSCs

It is known that different donor tissues for generating iPSCs could influence the nature of iPSCs because of the epigenetic memory [52]. Thus, the robust differentiation method of human iPSC-derived target cells and the generation of genetically matched control iPSCs are needed to establish a successful *in vitro* model using patient-derived iPSCs for the disease phenotypes.

During our body plan formation, skeletal tissues such as cartilages and bones originate from multiple developmental origins, including neural crest cells, paraxial mesoderm cells, and lateral plate mesoderm cells. These embryonic sources mainly give rise to skeletal tissues in the cranial, trunk, and limb region, respectively, at the postnatal state [53–60]. Several researchers have been trying to generate iPSCs-derived cartilage and bone through various developmental origins step by step, or directly from iPSCs [61–65]. Our previous studies have reported the establishment of neural crest cell-derived and paraxial mesoderm cell-derived chondrocytes from human iPSCs [66–68].

Furthermore, we applied bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)based homologous recombination technique to correct the FOP mutation (617 G > A) existing in exon 7 of ACVR1, and reported the establishment of mutation-rescued iPSCs (resFOP-iPSCs) from FOP patient-derived iPSCs [69]. The resFOP-iPSCs could be used as control iPSCs because they have the same genetic background as FOP-iPSCs.

Using these materials, we elucidated the biology of FOP by modeling the phenotypes *in vitro*. FOP-iPSCs showed increased mineralization and cartilage formation compared to control healthy iPSCs [38]. These results indicate that the FOP ACVR1 mutation (R206H) favors chondrogenesis and increases mineral deposition *in vitro*. Moreover, the mineralization phenotypes could be suppressed with a small molecule inhibitor of BMP signaling, DMH1. We also demonstrated that enhanced *in vitro* chondrogenic ability of neural crest-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs; positive for CD44, CD73, and CD105), induced from FOP-iPSCs, was transcriptionally distinguishable from that of resFOP-iPSCs. SMAD1/5/8, SMAD2/3, and ERK1/2 pathways were significantly activated in



Fig. 1. Ectopic bone formation in FOP patients. Schematic view of ectopic bone formation observed in FOP patients. This figure is provided by Masaya Todani (Center for iPS Cell Research and Application) and edited by authors.

FOP-iPSC-derived MSCs (FOP-MSCs) [69]. We also performed a genome-wide transcriptional analysis, and identified PAI1 and MMP1 as key genes that are possibly associated with FOP onset and phenotypes, by demonstrating that these were activated in FOP-MSCs compared to resFOP-iPSC-derived MSCs (resFOP-MSCs), and played a critical role during chondrogenesis.

Normally, the ectopic ossification in FOP patients does not appear at birth but starts to develop during childhood. We established the iPSC differentiation method of sclerotome (SCL)-derived embryonic chondrocytes and MSCs-derived chondrocytes through the paraxial mesoderm, and compared the chondrogenic ability using FOP-iPSCs/resFOP-iPSCs [67]. Consequently, enhanced chondrogenesis was observed in the MSC-derived chondrogenic pathway as previously reported [69,70] but not in the SCL-derived embryonic chondrogenic pathway. These observations imply the cell-type specificity of FOP phenotypes, which possibly reflects the onset of FOP.

2.2. Mechanisms underlying the phenotype of FOP

It has been shown that mutation in ACVR1, encoding a type I receptor for BMP, is responsible for FOP [71]. There are several proposed theories on the mechanism by which excessive BMP signaling is transmitted downstream. In particular, there are two major theories, stating that the signal is over-transmitted by the BMP ligand binding to the mutant ACVR1, and that the signal is constitutively activated regardless of the binding with BMP. However, the embryonic and postnatal skeletogenesis of FOP patients is nearly normal although BMP signaling has a pivotal role during human body development [28–30,32].

As an alternative to these canonical theories, in 2015 we advocated a new hypothesis that a ligand which does not belong to the BMP family binds to mutant ACVR1 and then transmits BMP signaling instead. Due to this, bone/cartilage formation is abnormally enhanced, leading to ectopic ossification in FOP patients [70]. To screen ligands that activate BMP signaling through only mutant ACVR1 but not wild-type ACVR, we introduced luciferase reporter construct to both FOP-MSCs and resFOP-MSCs for detecting BMP activity. These cells were treated with 27 different ligands having a structure similar to BMP ligands, which belong to the TGF- β superfamily. Then, the luciferase activity was measured in these treated cells. Consequently, BMP signaling was activated to higher levels in FOP-MSCs by the addition of several BMPs such as BMP 6 and BMP 7, as reported so far, but the ratio was approximately 1.4 times compared with resFOP-MSCs. Surprisingly, it was found that the ratio dramatically increased more than 4 times only by activin A, which belongs to the TGF- β superfamily, similar to BMPs. When knocking down mutant ACVR1 in FOP-MSCs, activation of BMP signaling was not observed. When mutant ACVR1 was overexpressed in another bone lineage cell; U2OS cells, BMP signaling was activated in response to activin A. Furthermore, investigating the effect of activin A on differentiation of iPSC-derived chondrocytes revealed that the cartilage formation is enhanced by activin A administration in FOP-MSCs. In addition, an ectopic bone was formed after FOP-MSC transplantation with activin A-expressing cells into immunodeficient mice (Fig. 2).

Based on the above findings, it is elucidated that abnormal BMP signaling transduction through mutant ACVR1 is caused by activin A, a molecule that generally transmits TGF- β signaling and contributes to inflammatory responses. Similar results were also reported from another group [72]. This new finding supports and coincides with the fact that patients usually show FOP symptoms after trauma and/or inflammation. These discoveries also uncovered a part of the pathological mechanism of FOP, which causes

ectopic bone tissue formation, and suggests a potential utilization of anti-activin A-related compound as a drug candidate for FOP.

2.3. Discovering the candidate drugs for FOP

Given the adverse prognosis and the difficulty in surgical therapy for FOP, developing an effective drug is strongly desired. Thus, several researchers have been struggling for a breakthrough since a long time. As candidate drugs for the disorders, which accompanied heterotopic ossification, several chemical compounds are proposed e.g. inhibitors of BMP type I receptors, such as LDN193189 and dorsomorphin which repress SMAD1/5/8 phosphorylation [73,74]; RAR γ agonists, which prevent the expression of SMAD1/5/8 [75]; hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α inhibitor, which inhibit the production of mesenchymal condensations [76]. Among them, Clementia Pharmaceuticals Inc. have started a clinical trial that investigate the curative effect of a RAR γ agonist; palovarotene on FOP patients.

Also, we reported a novel chemical screening system adopting iPSC technologies and revealed a promising drug candidate, rapamycin (international nonproprietary name; sirolimus), which could prevent the development of ossification in FOP patients [77]. We established the screening system using FOP-MSCs harboring luciferase following 5-repeats aggrecan enhancers to monitor the activity of chondrogenesis, and performed an initial screening against our chemical library, containing 6809 compounds and assessed the inhibitory effect on cartilage differentiation of FOP-MSCs. Then, a second screening was done using 549 compounds that had been evaluated to possess a certain effect at the first screening, and consequently. 76 compounds were shortlisted after considering their cytotoxicity. These hit compounds include RARy agonists and BMP signaling inhibitors that have been reported previously [73-75], but also include five mTOR inhibitors, suggesting the feasibility of mTOR inhibitors in our system. Several researchers have addressed the correlation of mTOR signaling and chondrogenesis as Chen and Long reported that mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) signaling controls skeletal growth through stimulation of protein synthesis in chondrocytes [78]. Also, Lim et al., reported that Bmp receptor type-1a controls osteoblast activity through mTORC1 signaling in mice, thus it is acceptable that mTOR signaling seems to be a downstream effector of Bmp signaling in skeletogenesis [79]. We subsequently investigated the effect of mTOR inhibitors using a model of FOP-MSC transplant into mice to form ectopic bone, and consequently found that the formation of ectopic bone by activin A stimulation was suppressed by administering rapamycin (Fig. 3). Therefore, these studies demonstrated the possible application of rapamycin to treat FOP patients. Based on these research achievements, Kyoto University Hospital started an investigator-initiated clinical trial that tests the curative effect on FOP patients in September 2017. The efficacy and safety are currently being assessed by multicenter randomized double-blind placebo-controlled comparison test followed by open-label continuous administration.

In addition, we proposed another drug candidate for FOP with a different model of chemical screening [80]. It is reported that approximately half of FOP patients experienced the progression of ectopic bone formation without apparent flares or injury [51]. We thus focused on the constitutive activity of mutated ACVR1 (FOP-ACVR1) as well, and developed a high-throughput screening system using a murine chondrogenic cell line, ATDC5, with doxycycline-inducible human FOP-ACVR1. As several reports demonstrated, ATDC5 is known to increase alkaline phosphatase (ALP) expression following BMP stimulation, and ALP activity can be monitored by a chromogenic phosphatase substrate in a chemical screening format. Consequently, two candidate compounds were identified from screening of 4892 compounds that suppressed the enhanced chondrogenesis in FOP-iPSCs and that



Fig. 2. Ectopic bones are formed following FOP-MSC transplantation. µCT images of formed ectopic bone in mice. FOP-MSCs (right leg) and resFOP-MSCs (left leg) were transplanted into the gastrocnemius muscle of mice. White circles show the transplanted area. This figure has been modified from Hino et al. [70].



Fig. 3. Rapamycin suppresses ectopic bone formation. X-ray (upper row) and μCT (bottom row) images. Administration of rapamycin suppressed activin A-triggered ectopic bone derived from FOP-MSCs. White arrows show the transplanted area. This figure has been modified from Hino et al. [77].

suppressed the ectopic ossification in multiple mouse models, including FOP-ACVR1 transgenic mice and ectopic ossification model mice utilizing FOP-iPSCs. We also revealed that one of the hit compounds, TAK 165, acts on mTOR indirectly, unlike rapamycin; this indicates the possibility of mTOR signaling dysfunction as a contributing factor in FOP and its possible application to the drug as well. Although clinical trials using rapamycin have been in progress, there is a substantial reason for considering a new drug, besides rapamycin, since all patients do not have the same phenotype. Moreover, it may be conceivable to achieve greater effects by combining multiple drugs.

3. Conclusion

Rapamycin, an mTOR inhibitor, has already been used in Japan as a drug for lymphangioleiomyomatosis. This concept of extended application to the other disease is called drug repositioning. This drug repositioning helps in reducing the cost and time of drug development as compared to the canonical drug discovery approaches [81]. The tag-team "iPSCs-technology based drug discovery \times drug repositioning" has great potential to accelerate the process of discovering new therapeutic agents. In recent years, this tag-team has revealed several drug candidates for diseases other than FOP. For example, it is reported that statins, already being used as therapeutic agents for hypercholesterolemia, can be applied to the treatment for achondroplasia (bone lineage disorder) and tanatophoric dysplasia as well [82]. In addition, another group reported that bosutinib, an anticancer agent used for treating chronic myelogenous leukemia, can also be used to treat amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, a type of neurodegenerative disease [83]. Moreover, it is demonstrated that rapamycin would be effective for the treatment of Pendred syndrome, a hereditary disorder typically associated with hearing loss [84].

Although rapamycin is expected to suppress the formation of new ectopic bone in FOP cases, it cannot be effective for already formed ectopic bone. In this regard, it is indispensable to develop new drugs or treatments that can remove existing ectopic bone tissue. Or adopting new therapeutic approaches such as genomeediting for FOP treatment could be possible in future. Also, several type of non-classic mutations that result in phenotypic variations in terms of the severity and onset of disease are reported but previous report have mainly used patient-derived iPSCs harboring a classic FOP mutation, R206H. Thus, further progress in research is still desired.

Study approval

All experiments dealing with human subjects were approved by the ethics committee of the Department of Medicine and Graduate School of Medicine of Kyoto University. Written informed consent was provided by each donor. All animal experiments were approved by the institutional animal committee of Kyoto University.

Conflicts of interest

All authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants-in-aid for scientific research from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) (#25293320, #16K15662, #26670661), the Program for Intractable Diseases Research utilizing Disease-Specific iPS cells from the Japan Science and Technology Agency (JST) and the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED), the Core Center for iPS Cell Research of the Research Center Network for Realization of Regenerative Medicine (JST/AMED), the Practical Research Project for Rare/Intractable Diseases and the Acceleration Program for Intractable Diseases Research utilizing Disease-Specific iPS cells from AMED, and a grant from the iPS Cell Research Fund.

References

- Ashburn TT, Thor KB. Drug repositioning: identifying and developing new uses for existing drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2004;3:673–83.
- [2] Morgan S, Grootendorst P, Lexchin J, Cunningham C, Greyson D. The cost of drug development: a systematic review. Health Policy 2011;100:4–17.
- [3] DiMasi JA, Hansen RW, Grabowski HG. The price of innovation: new estimates of drug development costs. J Health Econ 2003;22:151–85.
- [4] Sertkaya A, Wong HH, Jessup A, Beleche T. Key cost drivers of pharmaceutical clinical trials in the United States. Clin Trials 2016;13:117–26.
- [5] Paul SM, Mytelka DS, Dunwiddie CT, Persinger CC, Munos BH, Lindborg SR, et al. How to improve R&D productivity: the pharmaceutical industry's grand challenge. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2010;9:203–14.
- [6] Adams CP, Brantner VV. Spending on new drug development1. Health Econ 2010;19:130–41.
- [7] DiMasi JA, Hansen RW, Grabowski HG, Lasagna L. Research and development costs for new drugs by therapeutic category. A study of the US pharmaceutical industry. Pharmacoeconomics 1995;7:152–69.
- [8] Adams CP, Brantner VV. Estimating the cost of new drug development: is it really 802 million dollars? Health Aff 2006;25:420-8.
- [9] Watch C, Rx R&D Myths. The case against the drug industry's R&D "scare card". 2001.
- [10] Dimasi JA, Grabowski HG, Vernon J. R&D costs, innovative output and firm size in the pharmaceutical industry. Int J Econ Bus 1995;2:201–19.
- [11] DiMasi JA, Hansen RW, Grabowski HG, Lasagna L. Cost of innovation in the pharmaceutical industry. J Health Econ 1991;10:107–42.
- [12] Lavecchia A, Di Giovanni C. Virtual screening strategies in drug discovery: a critical review. Curr Med Chem 2013;20:2839–60.
- [13] Ward DJ, Martino OI, Simpson S, Stevens AJ. Decline in new drug launches: myth or reality? Retrospective observational study using 30-years of data from the UK. BMJ Open 2013;3:e002088.
- [14] Scannell JW, Blanckley A, Boldon H, Warrington B. Diagnosing the decline in pharmaceutical R&D efficiency. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2012;11:191–200.
- [15] Charlton BG. Why medical research needs a new specialty of 'pure medical science'. Clin Med 2006;6:163–5.
- [16] Wurtman RJ, Bettiker RL. The slowing of treatment discovery, 1965-1995. Nat Med 1995;1:1122–5.
- [17] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induced pluripotent stem cells in medicine and biology. Development 2013;140:2457–61.
- [18] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126:663–76.
- [19] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131:861–72.
- [20] Inoue H, Nagata N, Kurokawa H, Yamanaka S. iPS cells: a game changer for future medicine. EMBO J 2014;33:409–17.
- [21] Park IH, Arora N, Huo H, Maherali N, Ahfeldt T, Shimamura A, et al. Diseasespecific induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell 2008;134:877–86.
- [22] Dimos JT, Rodolfa KT, Niakan KK, Weisenthal LM, Mitsumoto H, Chung W, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cells generated from patients with ALS can be differentiated into motor neurons. Science 2008;321:1218–21.
- [23] Inoue H, Yamanaka S. The use of induced pluripotent stem cells in drug development. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2011;89:655–61.
- [24] Seok J, Warren HS, Cuenca AG, Mindrinos MN, Baker HV, Xu W, et al. Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:3507–12.
- [25] Takao K, Miyakawa T. Genomic responses in mouse models greatly mimic human inflammatory diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015;112: 1167–72.
- [26] Merkle FT, Eggan K. Modeling human disease with pluripotent stem cells: from genome association to function. Cell Stem Cell 2013;12:656–68.
- [27] Zhang W, Zhang K, Song L, Pang J, Ma H, Shore EM, et al. The phenotype and genotype of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva in China: a report of 72 cases. Bone 2013;57:386–91.
- [28] Kaplan FS, Chakkalakal SA, Shore EM. Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva: mechanisms and models of skeletal metamorphosis. Dis Model Mech 2012;5: 756–62.
- [29] Shore EM, Kaplan FS. Inherited human diseases of heterotopic bone formation. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2010;6:518–27.
- [30] Kaplan FS, Groppe J, Pignolo RJ, Shore EM. Morphogen receptor genes and metamorphogenes: skeleton keys to metamorphosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007; 1116:113–33.
- [31] Pignolo RJ, Shore EM, Kaplan FS. Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva: diagnosis, management, and therapeutic horizons. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 2013; 10(Suppl 2):437–48.

- [32] Kaplan FS, Le Merrer M, Glaser DL, Pignolo RJ, Goldsby RE, Kitterman JA, et al. Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Best practice & research. Clin Rheumatol 2008;22:191–205.
- [33] Mueller TD, Nickel J. Promiscuity and specificity in BMP receptor activation. FEBS Lett 2012;586:1846–59.
- [34] Chaikuad A, Alfano I, Kerr G, Sanvitale CE, Boergermann JH, Triffitt JT, et al. Structure of the bone morphogenetic protein receptor ALK2 and implications for fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. J Biol Chem 2012;287:36990–8.
- [35] Kaplan FS, Xu M, Seemann P, Connor JM, Glaser DL, Carroll L, et al. Classic and atypical fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP) phenotypes are caused by mutations in the bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) type I receptor ACVR1. Hum Mutat 2009;30:379–90.
- [36] Urist MR. Bone: formation by autoinduction. Science 1965;150:893–9.
- [37] Wozney JM, Rosen V, Celeste AJ, Mitsock LM, Whitters MJ, Kriz RW, et al. Novel regulators of bone formation: molecular clones and activities. Science 1988;242:1528–34.
- [38] Matsumoto Y, Hayashi Y, Schlieve CR, Ikeya M, Kim H, Nguyen TD, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cells from patients with human fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva show increased mineralization and cartilage formation. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013;8:190.
- [39] Hamasaki M, Hashizume Y, Yamada Y, Katayama T, Hohjoh H, Fusaki N, et al. Pathogenic mutation of ALK2 inhibits induced pluripotent stem cell reprogramming and maintenance: mechanisms of reprogramming and strategy for drug identification. Stem Cell 2012;30:2437–49.
- [40] Fukuda T, Kanomata K, Nojima J, Kokabu S, Akita M, Ikebuchi K, et al. A unique mutation of ALK2, G356D, found in a patient with fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva is a moderately activated BMP type I receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008;377:905–9.
- [41] Fukuda T, Kohda M, Kanomata K, Nojima J, Nakamura A, Kamizono J, et al. Constitutively activated ALK2 and increased SMAD1/5 cooperatively induce bone morphogenetic protein signaling in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. J Biol Chem 2009;284:7149–56.
- [42] Shen Q, Little SC, Xu M, Haupt J, Ast C, Katagiri T, et al. The fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva R206H ACVR1 mutation activates BMP-independent chondrogenesis and zebrafish embryo ventralization. J Clin Investig 2009;119:3462–72.
- [43] Song GA, Kim HJ, Woo KM, Baek JH, Kim GS, Choi JY, et al. Molecular consequences of the ACVR1(R206H) mutation of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. J Biol Chem 2010;285:22542–53.
- [44] van Dinther M, Visser N, de Gorter DJ, Doorn J, Goumans MJ, de Boer J, et al. ALK2 R206H mutation linked to fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva confers constitutive activity to the BMP type I receptor and sensitizes mesenchymal cells to BMP-induced osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:1208–15.
- [45] Ohte S, Shin M, Sasanuma H, Yoneyama K, Akita M, Ikebuchi K, et al. A novel mutation of ALK2, L196P, found in the most benign case of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva activates BMP-specific intracellular signaling equivalent to a typical mutation, R206H. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2011;407: 213–8.
- [46] Le VQ, Wharton KA. Hyperactive BMP signaling induced by ALK2(R206H) requires type II receptor function in a Drosophila model for classic fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Dev Dynam 2012;241:200–14.
- [47] Bagarova J, Vonner AJ, Armstrong KA, Borgermann J, Lai CS, Deng DY, et al. Constitutively active ALK2 receptor mutants require type II receptor cooperation. Mol Cell Biol 2013;33:2413–24.
- [48] Chakkalakal SA, Zhang D, Culbert AL, Convente MR, Caron RJ, Wright AC, et al. An Acvr1 R206H knock-in mouse has fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. J Bone Miner Res 2012;27:1746–56.
- [49] Culbert AL, Chakkalakal SA, Theosmy EG, Brennan TA, Kaplan FS, Shore EM. Alk2 regulates early chondrogenic fate in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva heterotopic endochondral ossification. Stem Cell 2014;32:1289–300.
- [50] Billings PC, Fiori JL, Bentwood JL, O'Connell MP, Jiao X, Nussbaum B, et al. Dysregulated BMP signaling and enhanced osteogenic differentiation of connective tissue progenitor cells from patients with fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP). J Bone Miner Res 2008;23:305–13.
- [51] Pignolo RJ, Bedford-Gay C, Liljesthrom M, Durbin-Johnson BP, Shore EM, Rocke DM, et al. The natural history of flare-ups in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP): a comprehensive global assessment. J Bone Miner Res 2016;31:650-6.
- [52] Kim K, Doi A, Wen B, Ng K, Zhao R, Cahan P, et al. Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2010;467:285–90.
- [53] Chai Y, Jiang X, Ito Y, Bringas Jr P, Han J, Rowitch DH, et al. Fate of the mammalian cranial neural crest during tooth and mandibular morphogenesis. Development 2000;127:1671–9.
- [54] Tickle C. How the embryo makes a limb: determination, polarity and identity. J Anat 2015;227:418-30.
- [55] Gros J, Tabin CJ. Vertebrate limb bud formation is initiated by localized epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Science 2014;343:1253–6.
- [56] Evans DJ, Noden DM. Spatial relations between avian craniofacial neural crest and paraxial mesoderm cells. Dev Dynam 2006;235:1310–25.
- [57] Noden DM. The role of the neural crest in patterning of avian cranial skeletal, connective, and muscle tissues. Dev Biol 1983;96:144–65.

- [58] Noden DM, Trainor PA. Relations and interactions between cranial mesoderm and neural crest populations. J Anat 2005;207:575–601.
- [59] Jiang X, Iseki S, Maxson RE, Sucov HM, Morriss-Kay GM. Tissue origins and interactions in the mammalian skull vault. Dev Biol 2002;241:106–16.
- [60] Mishina Y, Snider TN. Neural crest cell signaling pathways critical to cranial bone development and pathology. Exp Cell Res 2014;325:138–47.
- [61] Umeda K, Zhao J, Simmons P, Stanley E, Elefanty A, Nakayama N. Human chondrogenic paraxial mesoderm, directed specification and prospective isolation from pluripotent stem cells. Sci Rep 2012;2:455.
- [62] Menendez L, Kulik MJ, Page AT, Park SS, Lauderdale JD, Cunningham ML, et al. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent cells to neural crest stem cells. Nat Protoc 2013;8:203–12.
- [63] Lee G, Kim H, Elkabetz Y, Al Shamy G, Panagiotakos G, Barberi T, et al. Isolation and directed differentiation of neural crest stem cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25:1468–75.
- [64] Umeda K, Oda H, Yan Q, Matthias N, Zhao J, Davis BR, et al. Long-term expandable SOX9+ chondrogenic ectomesenchymal cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Reports 2015;4:712–26.
- [65] Loh KM, Chen A, Koh PW, Deng TZ, Sinha R, Tsai JM, et al. Mapping the pairwise choices leading from pluripotency to human bone, heart, and other mesoderm cell types. Cell 2016;166:451–67.
- [66] Nakajima T, Sakurai H, Ikeya M. Somitogenesis method based on human pluripotent stem cells for in vitro generation of somite derivatives. JoVE 2019. in press.
- [67] Nakajima T, Shibata M, Nishio M, Nagata S, Alev C, Sakurai H, et al. Modeling human somite development and fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva with induced pluripotent stem cells. Development 2018;145.
- [68] Fukuta M, Nakai Y, Kirino K, Nakagawa M, Sekiguchi K, Nagata S, et al. Derivation of mesenchymal stromal cells from pluripotent stem cells through a neural crest lineage using small molecule compounds with defined media. PLoS One 2014;9:e112291.
- [69] Matsumoto Y, Ikeya M, Hino K, Horigome K, Fukuta M, Watanabe M, et al. New protocol to optimize iPS cells for genome analysis of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Stem Cell 2015;33:1730–42.
- [70] Hino K, Ikeya M, Horigome K, Matsumoto Y, Ebise H, Nishio M, et al. Neofunction of ACVR1 in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112:15438–43.
- [71] Shore EM, Xu M, Feldman GJ, Fenstermacher DA, Cho TJ, Choi IH, et al. A recurrent mutation in the BMP type I receptor ACVR1 causes inherited and sporadic fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Nat Genet 2006;38:525–7.
- [72] Hatsell SJ, Idone V, Wolken DM, Huang L, Kim HJ, Wang L, et al. ACVR1R206H receptor mutation causes fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva by imparting responsiveness to activin A. Sci Transl Med 2015;7:303ra137.
- [73] Yu PB, Deng DY, Lai CS, Hong CC, Cuny GD, Bouxsein ML, et al. BMP type I receptor inhibition reduces heterotopic [corrected] ossification. Nat Med 2008;14:1363–9.
- [74] Yu PB, Hong CC, Sachidanandan C, Babitt JL, Deng DY, Hoyng SA, et al. Dorsomorphin inhibits BMP signals required for embryogenesis and iron metabolism. Nat Chem Biol 2008;4:33–41.
- [75] Shimono K, Tung WE, Macolino C, Chi AH, Didizian JH, Mundy C, et al. Potent inhibition of heterotopic ossification by nuclear retinoic acid receptor-gamma agonists. Nat Med 2011;17:454–60.
- [76] Agarwal S, Loder S, Brownley C, Cholok D, Mangiavini L, Li J, et al. Inhibition of Hif1alpha prevents both trauma-induced and genetic heterotopic ossification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016;113:E338–47.
- [77] Hino K, Horigome K, Nishio M, Komura S, Nagata S, Zhao C, et al. Activin-A enhances mTOR signaling to promote aberrant chondrogenesis in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. J Clin Investig 2017;127:3339–52.
- [78] Chen J, Long F. mTORC1 signaling controls mammalian skeletal growth through stimulation of protein synthesis. Development (Camb) 2014;141: 2848–54.
- [79] Lim J, Shi Y, Karner CM, Lee SY, Lee WC, He G, et al. Dual function of Bmpr1a signaling in restricting preosteoblast proliferation and stimulating osteoblast activity in mouse. Development 2016;143:339–47.
- [80] Hino K, Zhao C, Horigome K, Nishio M, Okanishi Y, Nagata S, et al. An mTOR signaling modulator suppressed heterotopic ossification of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Stem Cell Reports 2018;11:1106–19.
- [81] Oprea TI, Bauman JE, Bologa CG, Buranda T, Chigaev A, Edwards BS, et al. Drug repurposing from an academic perspective. Drug Discov Today Ther Strateg 2011;8:61–9.
- [82] Yamashita A, Morioka M, Kishi H, Kimura T, Yahara Y, Okada M, et al. Statin treatment rescues FGFR3 skeletal dysplasia phenotypes. Nature 2014;513: 507–11.
- [83] Imamura K, Izumi Y, Watanabe A, Tsukita K, Woltjen K, Yamamoto T, et al. The Src/c-Abl pathway is a potential therapeutic target in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Sci Transl Med 2017;9.
- [84] Hosoya M, Fujioka M, Sone T, Okamoto S, Akamatsu W, Ukai H, et al. Cochlear cell modeling using disease-specific iPSCs unveils a degenerative phenotype and suggests treatments for congenital progressive hearing loss. Cell Rep 2017;18:68–81.